ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 15 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner
Melody L. James, Commissioner
R. Michael Campbell, Commissioner

W.C.C. File No. 0802605
Appellate Case No.2015-002120

Tommy G. Houston, Employee, Respondent,

v.

Garda World Security, Employer, and Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc., Carrier, . . . Appellants.

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

R. DANIEL ADDISON
LEE E. DIXON
Hedrick, Gardner, Kincheloe & Garofalo, L.L.P.
P.O. Box 11267
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 727-1200
Attorneys for Appellants

April 15, 2016

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED IN FINDING THAT IT HAD JURISDICTION OVER RESPONDENT'S CLAIM FOR A CHANGE OF CONDITION TO THE RIGHT KNEE?

WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT SUSTAINED A COMPENSABLE CHANGE OF CONDITION TO THE RIGHT KNEE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers compensation case arises out of an accepted March 11, 2008 motor vehicle accident. On February 4, 2010, Claimant executed a Form 16A, *Agreement for Permanent Disability*, to resolve his permanent disability for injuries sustained in that accident. (R. p. 434) The Form 16A identified injuries to the right shoulder and low back and listed affected body parts: ribs, right knee, right hand, left hip and left leg. Permanent disability was paid solely on the right shoulder and low back.

Approximately six months after the settlement of his permanent disability, Claimant filed a Form 50, *Notice of Claim for Change of Condition*, on July 13, 2010, seeking additional medical care. (R. p. 48) The Form 50 recited every body part referenced in the Form 16A; namely the right shoulder, back, ribs, right knee, right hand, left hip and left leg. Claimant filed an amended Form 50, *claim only*, on October 6, 2010 specifically alleging a change of condition for the worse but not specifying which body part(s) had sustained the alleged change of condition. (R. p. 49) On November 11, 2010, Claimant filed a Form 50, *Request for Hearing*. (R. p. 50) Attached to the hearing request was a signed questionnaire by Dr. Phillip H. Wessinger stating only "Tommy Houston has sustained a change of condition for the worse since I released him on July 1, 2009." (R. p. 51) This questionnaire contained no statement as to what body parts had sustained a change of condition.

Defendants filed a Form 51, *Employer's Answer*, denying the change of condition. (R. p. 52) Prior to a hearing, but after the expiration of the twelve-month period following the date of the Form 16A, the parties entered into a Consent Order, dated March 16, 2011, in which Defendants admitted that Claimant had sustained a change of condition for the worse to his low back and right shoulder. (R. p. 45) No other body parts were accepted. Defendants consented to authorize an evaluation of Claimant's low back and to provide temporary total-disability benefits. The Consent Order contained a general, boilerplate provision stating that all remaining issues would be held in abeyance. (*Id.*) The Consent Order contained no reference to any allegation regarding the right knee as none had been raised at that time. Defendants provided treatment for the shoulder and low back, including surgery to the back in December 2012. Thereafter, in mid-2013, Claimant began complaining of pain in his right knee.

On July 22, 2014, Claimant filed another Form 50, *Request for Hearing*. (R. p. 54) The hearing was held before the Single Commissioner on November 14, 2014. The principal issue for determination was Defendants' liability for treatment to Claimant's right knee, including past and future medical expenses. Defendants denied that the additional treatment for the right knee was compensable on two grounds: (1) that Claimant did not timely pursue a change of condition to the right knee as required by S.C. Code §42-17-90, and (2) the substantial evidence in the record does not support a finding that Claimant sustained a change of condition to the right knee related to his March 11, 2008 accident.

On February 18, 2015, the Single Commissioner issued an order finding that Claimant timely reported his change of condition to the right knee, properly preserved his claim for change of condition to the right knee and sustained a change of condition for the worse to his right knee. (R. p. 23) The Single Commission found that Claimant was not at maximum medical improvement and Defendants were responsible for all causally-related medical care.

Defendants filed a Form 30, *Application for Commission Review*, on March 4, 2015, assigning error to the Single Commissioner order on the basis that Single Commissioner erred in finding jurisdiction to review an award to the right knee and in finding that Claimant sustained a compensable change of condition to the right knee. (R. p. 56) The Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission ("Appellate Panel") heard Defendants appeal on June 15, 2015. On September 8, 2015, the Appellate Panel issued an order affirming the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner. (R. p. 1) Defendants timely filed their Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals on October 8, 2015.. (R. p. 61)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") establishes the standard of review for decisions by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission." Forrest v. A.S. Price Mech., 373 S.C. 303, 306, 644 S.E.2d 784, 785 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134-35, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981)). "In workers' compensation cases, the [Appellate Panel] is the ultimate fact finder." Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000) (citation omitted). This court reviews facts based on the substantial evidence standard. Thompson v. S.C. Steel Erectors, 369 S.C. 606, 612, 632 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2006). "Under the substantial evidence standard, the appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the [Appellate Panel] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." Forrest, 373 S.C. at 306, 644 S.E.2d at 785 (citing S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5)). The appellate court may reverse or modify the Appellate Panel's decision only if Claimant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the record. Id. at 306, 644 S.E.2d at 785-86.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the November 14, 2014 hearing, the parties submitted their evidence through their Form 58, *Pre-Hearing Briefs*, and APA submissions. (*See generally*, R. pp. 244 – 684) At the hearing, the only direct testimony presented was that of Claimant. As discussed above, Claimant entered into a settlement of his claim on a Form 16A on February 4, 2010 with indemnity paid for injuries to his back and right shoulder. (R. p. 434) In addition to the medical evidence related to Claimant's pre- and post-settlement treatment, the depositions of Drs. Paylor, Math, and Wessinger were submitted as to the issue of whether or not Claimant sustained a compensable change of condition to his right knee arising out of his 2008 injury. (*See generally*, R. pp. 132 – 184)

Medical Evidence – Pre-Settlement

On the day of his accident, March 11, 2008, Claimant was treated at the Greenville Hospital System. He was admitted following a motor vehicle accident complaining of right side pain. (R. p. 662) Claimant was noted as complaining of right chest pain, right flank pain and some left knee pain but he was able to move his knee. (*Id.*) A follow-up on March 21, 2008 revealed Claimant was still having right side pain. (R. p. 663) The records contain no reference to the right knee.

Claimant was then referred to Dr. Wessinger, Steadman Hawkins, on April 30, 2008. (R. p. 444) Dr. Wessinger noted that Claimant was involved in a March 11, 2008 motor vehicle accident. He noted that Claimant reported several rib fractures, that he initially had right knee pain and that those had improved. Claimant reported increased left shoulder pain and left hip pain that radiated down to the left knee. The shoulder pain was noted as constant. Dr.

Wessinger diagnosed him with subacromial impingement and bursitis of the hip. (R. p. 445). Following an MRI, Claimant was diagnosed with a rotator cuff tear and underwent a surgical repair. (R. pp. 451 – 52) On September 3, 2008, Claimant returned to Dr. Wessinger for a post-surgical follow-up and reported increased left hip pain. (R. p. 456) On October, 22, 2008, Claimant reported that his hip and low back had responded well to physical therapy. (R. p. 460) On February 4, 2009, Claimant reported his back continued to be better and Claimant was able to walk 2-3 hours without pain. (R. p. 468) On April 15, 2009, Dr. Wessinger noted that Claimant was doing well and able to cut his grass. (R. p. 470) On April 29, 2009, Claimant reported a problem with his right hand related to the IV he had inserted after the accident. (R. p. 472) Dr. Wessinger notes that Claimant reported the problem had occurred since the accident but this was the first time he reported it to Dr. Wessinger. Dr. Wessinger ordered a biopsy. On May 27, 2009, Dr. Wessinger added a diagnosis of a localized superficial swelling, mass or lump to Claimant's list of issues. (R. p. 476) On July 1, 2009, Dr. Wessinger found Claimant to be at maximum medical improvement with regard to his shoulder and back. (R. p. 482 – 81) Claimant was assigned a 15% impairment to the right shoulder and 7% impairment to the back. (Id.) Claimant did not receive any treatment to his right knee from Dr. Wessinger and no injury to his right knee was ever diagnosed during this period. Claimant settled his claim on a Form 16A on February 4, 2010. (R. p. 434)

Medical Evidence – Post-Settlement

Claimant returned to Dr. Wessinger on September 1, 2010 reporting increased pain in his right shoulder as well as left leg pain and low back pain. (R. p. 484) Dr. Wessinger ordered an MRI of the shoulder and noted an MRI of the back may be needed if his symptoms were not controlled. On October 6, 2010, Dr. Wessinger noted continued back and hip pain, primarily on the left. (R. p. 486) Claimant reported that this pain had been present since his accident but are

apparently getting worse. Dr. Wessinger ordered an MRI. A Patient Recheck Questionnaire filled out by Claimant on this date indicates the location of pain or problem as "Back-Shoulder-Knee", the box for right or left was unchecked. (R. p. 258) On October 27, 2010, Claimant returned to Dr. Wessinger following his MRI. Dr. Wessinger notes that Claimant is at MMI for his shoulder. (R. p. 488) He noted that Claimant's MRI revealed arthritic problems that could have been aggravated by the accident and ordered a referral to get a surgical evaluation. On November 3, 2010, Dr. Wessinger filled out a questionnaire indicating that Claimant had sustained a change of condition for the worse since his release on July 1, 2009 but did not specify what body parts had sustained the change of condition and did not make any reference to the right knee. (R. p. 490)

Claimant was referred to Dr. Michael Bucci, Piedmont Spine and Neurosurgical Group, on April 21, 2011. Dr. Bucci notes that Claimant complained of low back pain radiating to the left buttock, down the back of the left leg to the foot. (R. p. 492) He notes that Claimant reported occasionally having symptoms in the right groin region and leg. Dr. Bucci ordered a lumbar myelogram. Claimant's review of symptoms listed leg cramps and muscle pain. (R. p. 496) No reference to the right knee was noted.

Claimant was later evaluated by Dr. Jyoti Math, Upstate Medical Rehabilitation, on August 18, 2011 for pain management. Dr. Math notes the Claimant reporting that his job required heavy lifting and that aggravated his shoulder pain, as well as his back pain. (R. p. 505) She notes that his pain is worse with prolonged standing, and is located in the back of the thigh on the left side and occasionally up the heel. He reported numbness in the L5 distribution with some weakness secondary to pain. Dr. Math ordered physical therapy with possible trigger point injections in the future. On September 12, 2011, Claimant received trigger point injections. (R. p. 508) On October 10, 2011, Claimant returned and reported doing well with physical therapy

but reported some continued low back pain. (R. p. 511) Claimant received additional SI and medial branch block injections and radiofrequency ablation from Dr. Math. (R. p. 527)

Claimant was evaluated by Dr. Charles C. Kanos, SE Neuro & Spine Institute, on August 1, 2012. Claimant reported his pain was at the center of his back to the left hip and down the leg. (R. p. 547) Dr. Kanos ordered a new MRI. On August 24, 2012, Claimant reported low back and left leg pain. (R. p. 550) Dr. Kanos recommended an L5-S1 PLIF.

On August 27, 2012, Claimant returned to Dr. Math. She notes that he reported continued pain in his legs, as well as his back, that the pain was on the left-side and had not changed in quality or character. (R. p. 528)

On October 22, 2012, Dr. Kanos notes that Claimant was complaining of burning and pins and needles in his low back and down his left leg. (R. p. 553) Dr. Kanos further notes that Claimant has been having left hip pain into the thigh as well as needle sensation in his right foot. (R. p. 554) Claimant's main complaint was low back pain and left leg pain. On December 12, 2012, Claimant underwent back surgery with Dr. Kanos. (R. p. 556)

On March 8, 2013, Dr. Kanos notes that Claimant reported that his standing tolerance had improved, that his left leg pain had resolved and his low back pain was 50% improved since surgery. (R. p. 557) Claimant still reported left hip pain. On April 24, 2013, Dr. Kanos assigned Claimant permanent restrictions of no lifting over 35 pounds, no repetitive bending more than 60 degrees, and restricted his ability to sit for 8 hours a day or walk for 2 hours with breaks. (R. p. 561) Dr. Kanos placed him at maximum medical improvement for his back with a 25% impairment rating to the lumbar spine.

First medical record referencing significant right knee issues - On June 6, 2013, Claimant reported to Dr. Math's PA, Christopher Kelly, for a medication follow up. During that visit, Claimant reported having some right knee pain that had gotten worse. (R. p. 602)

Claimant advised the PA that he had been trying to walk more per Dr. Kanos' instructions, but his right knee was limiting him. Claimant also reported that the knee has been bothering him since his accident and that he saw Dr. Wessinger about it back in August, 2010. Claimant wanted to get his knee evaluated since it had given him so many problems. Claimant described the pain in the knee as not radiating but localized over the front of his kneecap. (R. p. 603) According to the note, Claimant advised he could not put his weight down on his knee and "[h]e has not been able to do that since the accident." (Id.) An x-ray and MRI of the knee were ordered. On July 10, 2013, Dr. Math notes that Claimant reported that his back pain was improved but he continued to have knee pain. (R. p. 537) Claimant reported occasional locking or clicking. She notes that a June 25, 2013 MRI showed an extensive tear in the lateral meniscus, possible bucket handle tear and lateral tibiofibular chondromalacia. (R. p. 537) She referred Claimant to Dr. Wessinger.

On an October 21, 2013 follow up, Dr. Kanos noted that Claimant used a cane because of right knee pain and a recent diagnosis of a meniscal tear. (R. p. 420)

On an October 9, 2013 recheck, Dr. Math noted Claimant continued to have right knee pain secondary to a meniscal tear. (R. p. 541) Dr. Math noted that Claimant had not yet been seen by an orthopedic surgeon and recommended a knee brace.

Claimant underwent an evaluation with Dr. Paylor for his right knee on November 5, 2013. Dr. Paylor noted the date of onset as March 11, 2008. (R. p. 633) He indicates that the knee had been painful since the initial injury. Dr. Paylor noted advanced grade chondromalacia as well as extensive tearing of the lateral meniscus. (R. p. 634). Dr. Paylor recommended a arthroscopy of the right knee with a lateral meniscectomy.

Claimant continued to receive pain management treatment from Dr. Math through July 2, 2014. In a June 13, 2014 questionnaire, Dr. Math indicated that it was her opinion that it is more

likely than not that the increased activity and walking that Claimant engaged in pursuant to his medical providers' advice following his back surgery aggravated his right knee pain causing the need for additional evaluation and treatment of his right knee. (R. p. 388)

In a questionnaire dated November 18, 2013, Dr. Paylor indicates that it was his opinion that Claimant sustained an injury to his right knee in a car accident on 3/11/08 and that the patient stated his current condition was from the accident. (R. p. 636)

In a June 26, 2014 statement, Dr. Paylor opined that it is more likely than not that Claimant suffered injury to his right knee as a result of his motor vehicle accident while working on or about March 11, 2008, that his right knee symptoms became less noticeable as he pursued treatment for other injuries and was less active, and then became more symptomatic again as treatment for his other injuries wound down and he increased his activity and began walking more following his back surgery. (R. p. 433)

Dr. John H. Paylor, III Deposition

Dr. Paylor was deposed on July 1, 2014. Dr. Paylor testified that he did not see Claimant until November 5, 2013. (R. p. 133, Depo. p. 7, ll. 12-14) Dr. Paylor testified that he did not review Claimant's prior medical records at that time. (R. p. 133, Depo. p. 8, ll. 23-25) Dr. Paylor testified that the June 26, 2013 statement he signed was prepared by Claimant's counsel but he agreed with its contents. (R. p. 134, Depo. p. 10, l. 17 – p. 11, l. 7) He testified that he conducted a limited review of Claimant's prior medical records at that time but primarily relied on statements from counsel as to Claimant's prior treatment. (R. p. 134; Depo. p. 11, l. 8 – p. 12, l. 10) He testified that he may have reviewed some records from the Greenville Hospital System but he did not review the records of Dr. Wessinger, Dr. Kanos, or Dr. Bucci.

Dr. Paylor agreed that Claimant's prior medical records do not reference any right knee pain until 2013. (See generally, R. pp. 135 – 136). Dr. Paylor testified that the only evidence he

has that Claimant's meniscal tear existed since 2008 was Claimant's statement to him that the problem had existed since his accident. (R. p. 142, Depo. p. 42, l. 3 – l. 19) Dr. Paylor opined that the medical records do not include reference to right knee pain because the prior physicians did not ask him directly about his right knee. (R. p. 137, Depo. p. 23, ll. 2 – 8) Dr. Paylor testified that his opinion that the knee injury occurred in 2008 is based solely on what the Claimant told him in 2013. (R. p. 139, Depo. p. 30, ll. 1 – 17) Dr. Paylor testified that he could not tell how old the injury was from the diagnostic imaging. (R. p. 140, Depo. p. 35, ll. 3 – 5) Dr. Paylor testified that he did not know of any reason why Claimant would not have been capable of complaining to his other doctors about his right knee if a problem existed. (R. p. 139, Depo. p. 31, ll. 18 – 22) Dr. Paylor did not ask and Claimant did not offer any explanation for why he waited until 2013 to seek treatment. (R. p. 140, Depo. p. 34, ll. 3 – 10) Dr. Paylor testified that Claimant's treatment records from 2013 indicate that Claimant reported that the problem had existed since his accident. (R. p. 141, Depo. p. 39, ll. 4 – 17)

Dr. Joyti K. Math Deposition

Dr. Math was deposed on September 3, 2014. Dr. Math testified that she did not see Claimant until August 18, 2011 and has seen him routinely since then. (R. p. 146, Depo. p. 6, ll. 15 – 20) In 2011, Claimant was a new patient being seen for a workers' comp injury. She testified Claimant was referred by Dr. Bucci for management of his low back pain. Dr. Math testified that knee pain was discussed very vaguely but Claimant's main issue was his back. (R. p. 147, Depo. p. 11, ll. 19 – 20) Dr. Math admits that her notes do not identify which knee was discussed. (R. p. 147, Depo. p. 12, ll. 1 – 8) Dr. Math testified that Claimant reported back problems going down his left leg and that working had aggravated his shoulder pain and back pain. (R. p. 148, Depo. p. 15, ll. 4 – 10) Dr. Math testified that Claimant's gait was normal at this initial visit. (R. p. 149, Depo. p. 17, ll. 15 – 19) She admits doing some leg testing with

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