ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

Appellate Case No. 2015-002120
SCWCC Case No. 0802605

Tommy G. Houston, Employee, Respondent,

v.

Garda World Security, Employer, and
Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc., Carrier, Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kathryn Williams
Kathryn Williams, P.A.
619 North Main St.
P.O. Box 10693
Greenville, SC 29603
(864) 235-6254

Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS'
COMPENSATION COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Commission correctly determined that it had jurisdiction over Houston's claim for a change of condition to the right knee.

a. Houston's change of condition claim for the right knee was preserved and held in abeyance by agreement of the parties

A review of all the evidence on the record shows that the Commission correctly determined it had jurisdiction over Houston's change of condition claim under the Act. The Commission specifically found, in relevant part, that:

5. Houston, unrepresented by counsel, initially resolved his workers' compensation claim via a Form 16A settlement on February 4, 2010. Although Houston's right knee was listed as an affected body part, Houston only received compensation for his back and his right shoulder. Other affected body parts included Houston's ribs, right hand, left hip, and left leg.
6. On July 13, 2010, after retaining counsel, Houston filed a Form 50, claim only, alleging a change of condition to his right shoulder, back, ribs, right knee, right hand, left hip, and left leg.

7. On November 11, 2010, within the one year period per § 42-17-90, Houston filed a Form 50, request for hearing, alleging a change of condition to his right shoulder, back, ribs, right knee, right hand, left hip, and left leg.
8. The change of condition hearing notice was served on the parties on January 7, 2011, with a hearing date of February 17, 2011.
9. Prior to the February 17, 2011 hearing, the parties entered in to a Consent Order, dated March 16, 2011, wherein Garda admitted that Houston sustained a change of condition to his back and right shoulder and that “all other issues are held in abeyance.”
10. The undersigned find[] that the term “held in abeyance” in the March 16, 2011 Consent Order preserved Houston’s right to file for a change of condition for his right knee as it was initially pled in his Form 50 for a change of condition that was filed within the one year period per the statute.
11. As Houston’s right to file for change of condition for his right knee was preserved, the undersigned find[] the Commission has jurisdiction to hear Houston’s change of condition claim as it pertains to his right knee.

(R. pp. 14-16, Full Commission Order dated 9/8/15)

Against the weight of the evidence, Garda argues that Houston’s Form 50, request for hearing, filed within one-year after the last payment of compensation with supporting medical documentation, was not timely pursued.

The statute of limitations applicable to workers’ compensation claims, like the Workers’ Compensation Act as a whole, should be given liberal construction, and any reasonable doubts should be resolved in favor of coverage. Rogers v. Spartanburg Regional Medical Center, 328 S.C. 415, 491 S.E.2d 708 (Ct. App. 1997). The time limit in § 42-17-90 is in effect a notice provision. The Commission determined that the Form 50 filed on November 11, 2010 timely plead

the right knee, putting Garda on notice of Houston's intent to pursue a change of condition claim. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that so long as the change of condition application is filed with the Commission within the one-year period, the actual hearing on the issue need not be adjudicated within the one-year period. Allen v. Benson Outdoor Adver. Co., 236 S.C. 22, 112 S.E.2d 722 (1960). In so doing, the Court reiterated the guiding principle that "a liberal construction [of the statute] is required" and that:

'[t]o sustain appellants' contention would lead to a rather unreasonable result clearly not within the intent of the Legislature. An application might be seasonably made but due to crowded dockets or other causes could not be heard within the statutory period.'

Allen, 112 S.E.2d at 725-26 (emphasis added). The Court also approvingly quoted the following language from a West Virginia case:

'The filing of a claim for further compensation within the statutory period and partial but not complete development thereof within such period, with loss of jurisdiction by the commissioner during the progress of the case, would be an absurd result which the legislature certainly did not have in mind, and we feel warranted in holding that the statute in question should be given a construction which permits the commissioner to hear and pass upon any application in writing for a further adjustment of a claim, if filed within the statutory period applicable to the nature of the claim filed.'

Allen, 112 S.E.2d at 726 (quoting Wilkins v. State Comp. Comm'r, 198 S.E. 869, 871 (W.Va. 1938)(emphasis added)).

In the current case, Houston was out of work from right shoulder surgery as a result of his work accident until May 11, 2009. (R. p. 119, hrg. tr. p. 16, line 5 – R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 17, line 3; R. p. 444) Houston then settled his Workers' Compensation claim on a Form 16A, unrepresented by counsel, in February 2010. (R. p. 119, hrg. tr. p. 16, line 5 – R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 17, line 3; R. p. 434) Houston testified that when he signed the Form 16A, his right shoulder had improved post-surgery but his right knee and back were getting worse after starting work and becoming more active again. (R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 17, line 18 – p. 18, line 9) Additionally, Houston testified that during the time of his November 2010 deposition that he complained of his right knee as part of his injury by accident and would not have settled his claim unless his back and right knee were included. (R. p. 123, hrg. tr. p. 29, line 18 – p. 30, line 13; R. p. 217, Houston depo p. 33, lines 2 – 15)

Houston returned to Dr. Wessinger in September 2010 complaining of pain in his back and right knee. (R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 18, line 20 – p. 19, line 16; R. p. 258) He then saw Dr. Michael Bucci and Dr. Charles Kanos, both spine surgeons, who evaluated his back and recommended back surgery but would not address his right knee. (R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 19, line 21 – p. 20, line 1; R. p. 134, hrg. tr. p. 33, lines 16 – 23; R. p. 349) Dr. Kanos recommended back surgery, which Houston pursued, as it was his most symptomatic medical condition, until Garda denied treatment and the recommended back surgery. (R. p. 123, hrg. tr. p. 30, line 7 – p. 31, line 7; R. p. 423) At that point, Houston retained counsel. (*Id.*) The parties eventually entered into a Consent Order providing for the back surgery and leaving all other issues in abeyance. (R. pp. 45-46, Consent Order dated March 16, 2011)

While recovering from back surgery, Houston testified that his medical care providers encouraged him to increase walking, and as he did so, noticed that his right knee was worse. (R.

p. 123, hrg. tr. p. 32, lines 3-7) Houston requested treatment for his right knee, and Garda sent him to Dr. Paylor for treatment. (R. p. 123, hrg. tr. p. 32, lines 8 – 13; R. pp. 426-430) Houston underwent treatment at Garda's direction, with Dr. Paylor until he recommended right knee surgery, at which point Garda denied all further treatment. (R. p. 123, hrg. tr. 32, line 14 – R. p. 124, hrg. tr. p. 33, line 5; R. p. 427) After Garda denied treatment, Houston filed a Form 50, request for hearing, on July 22, 2014, seeking the recommended treatment for his right knee.

As the evidence shows, Houston has consistently pursued treatment and has not rested on his right to pursue a change of condition claim for his right knee. Houston actively sought and underwent all recommended treatment provided by Garda until it denied right knee surgery with Dr. Paylor. Garda now expects this Court to ignore the agreement of the parties memorialized in the Consent Order as “boilerplate” language insufficient to preserve the known and properly plead issues in Houston's Form 50 hearing request. Garda agreed in the Consent Order to hold all other issues in abeyance, and those issues included the properly pleaded knee injury for which they had provided treatment until it became expensive.

As referenced by the case law, it is an absurd result to suggest that Houston, in need of recommended back surgery, should refuse the opportunity of treatment by an agreement of the parties in order to continue adjudication of all issues plead. Houston opted to undergo treatment for his most symptomatic injury at the time, while continuing to pursue treatment for his other injuries. It is also an absurd result to assume that the Commission, properly noticed of issues plead in the Form 50 filing and held in abeyance by the parties in a Consent Order, should lose jurisdiction while Houston is in active treatment and should prevent him from pursuing those issues once he is in the position to do so. Houston actively pursued and received treatment for his back and then his right knee, all authorized by Garda, until Dr. Paylor recommended right knee

surgery. At that time, in response to Garda's denial of treatment, Houston filed a hearing request to continue treatment for his right knee. Therefore, Houston's change of condition claim for his right knee is proper, and the Commission had jurisdiction to hear the claim.

The Supreme Court's language clearly indicates that a claim be made – that the notice of the change of condition claim be given – within the one-year time period and that subsequent development of the case, hearing, and decision can all be accomplished outside the one-year time period. See also Candado Stevedoring Corp. v. Willard, 91 F. Supp. 77, 80 (E.D.N.Y. 1950) *aff'd*, 185 F.2d 232 (2d Cir. 1950)(“it was sufficient if proceedings were ‘begun’ within the year which . . . means from the time of the filing of the claim and giving of notice”)(See also S.C. Code Regs. 67-602(D)(“The [required] documents must be filed in the Commission's file before the date set for the hearing.”). This interpretation is the only reasonable one because, as the Court in Allen recognized, it takes time to develop a case for hearing, and there is no need to adjudicate a change of condition claim for treatment if such treatment is already provided. It is disingenuous to think that Houston should litigate something that Garda is authorizing. Even outside the purview of Houston's right to pursue a change of condition claim, adjudicating a request for treatment already being provided is not in the interest of judicial economy.

Garda's arguments are contrary to the plain language of the Commission's rules and the applicable statutes, as interpreted by the Supreme Court. For these reasons, the Commission's Decision and Order should be affirmed.

b. Alternatively, Houston's change of condition claim is a previously undiagnosed condition arising from the original accident

In the alternative, the Commission also has jurisdiction over Houston's claim for benefits as an undiagnosed condition arising from the original injury. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that within the meaning of S.C. Ann. § 42-17-90, a change of condition claim may be

based upon undiagnosed conditions arising from the original injury but not discovered until after the first award. Brayboy v. Clark Heating Co., 306 S.C. 56, 409 S.E.2d 767 (1991) (citing Krell v. South Carolina Hwy. Dept., 237 S.C. 584, 589, 118 S.E.2d 322, 325 (1961)). Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations would begin to run from the date Houston either knew or should have known of his compensable injury. Mauldin v. Dyna-Color/Jack Rabbit, 308 S.C. 18, 20, 416 S.E.2d 639, 640 (1992). The court noted that the discovery rule - as related to statutes of limitation - should not cause claimants to suffer where circumstances prevent them from knowing they have been harmed. Santee Portland Cement v. Daniel Int'l Corp., 299 S.C. 269, 271, 384 S.E.2d 693, 694 (1989). “[S]tatutes of limitation which are susceptible to judicial construction should not be applied mechanically.” (Id.)(quoting Gattis v. Chavez, 413 F.Supp. 33, 39 (D.S.C. 1976)).

Here, Houston initially settled on a Form 16A dated February 4, 2010. After the award, Houston’s condition deteriorated, and he pursued a change of condition claim for more treatment. Houston received additional treatment, including surgery to his low back and right shoulder. (R. pp. 423, 482; R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 17, line 18 – p. 18, line 9) While recovering from surgery and becoming more mobile, Houston’s right knee became more symptomatic. (R. p. 433; R. p. 141, Paylor depo p. 40, lines 11 – 18) Houston did not discover, could not discover, and could not be diagnosed as needing right knee surgery until his other, more symptomatic, conditions began to resolve. (R. p. 123, hrg. tr. p. 32, lines 3-7) When Garda sent him for treatment with Dr. Paylor in November 2013, Houston was finally able to discover the extent of his right knee condition and need for surgery.

Dr. Paylor testified in his deposition that the only known cause for Houston’s right knee problems was the March 11, 2008 motor vehicle accident. (R. p. 137, Paylor depo p. 24, lines 12

– 24; R. p. 138, Paylor depo p. 25, lines 12 – 21; R. p. 139, Paylor depo p. 30, lines 1 – 13, 23 – 25) He also stated that it is a regular occurrence for the more severe injuries from an auto accident to be treated first and then for other injuries to come to the forefront that were not as noticeable at the time of the injury. (R. p. 139, Paylor depo p. 30, lines 1-13)

Based on the case law interpreting statutes of limitation and change of condition claims, the Commission had jurisdiction of Houston’s claim for benefits as he actively pursued his right knee injury as a previously undiagnosed condition arising from the original accident. For these reasons, the Commission’s Decision and Order should be affirmed.

II. The Commission correctly determined that Houston sustained a compensable change of condition to the right knee.

A review of all the evidence on the record shows that the Commission correctly determined that Houston sustained a compensable change of condition and is entitled to further medical treatment. Specifically, the Commission correctly determined that Houston is entitled to all causally-related medical evaluation and treatment expenses, including right knee surgery as recommended by Dr. Paylor.

In order to prove a change of condition under § 42-17-90, an injured worker must show a change in condition as a result of his original injury, occurring after the first award. Causby v. Rock Hill Printing & Finishing Co., 249 S.C. 225, 227, 153 S.E.2d 697, 698 (1967). To justify a modification of an award based on a change of condition, an injured worker must show the change of condition and its causal connection to the original compensable accident. Krell v. S.C. State Hwy. Dept., 237 S.C. 584, 588, 118 S.E.2d 322, 323 (1961). However, there is no requirement in the Act that an injured worker prove a change of condition by objective evidence. Russell v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Op. No. 5376 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 20, 2016)(Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 3

at 35, 38-39)(“there is no requirement in the Act that the evidence relied upon by the Commission be either subjective or objective.”) Houston has carried this burden in both regards and the Commission’s Decision and Order is supported by substantial evidence.

The medical evidence shows that Houston first made mention of his right knee injury to Dr. Wessinger on April 30, 2008; then again on a Patient Recheck Questionnaire completed at Dr. Wessinger’s office on October 6, 2010; and on FMLA application paperwork and patient addendum from Steadman Hawkins dated October 6, 2010. (R. pp. 258, 262, 439) During this period, Houston actively treated for his back and right shoulder, both of which required surgery and periods of immobility. (R. pp. 423, 482; R. p. 120, hrg. tr. p. 17, line 18 – p. 18, line 9)

While in pain management following surgery, Dr. Math noted Houston complained of right knee pain that had gotten worse after returning to activity post-surgery; that she attempted to contact workers’ compensation because his right knee needed medical attention; and that Houston’s June 25, 2013 MRI was read to reveal an extensive tear in the lateral meniscus, possible bucket handle tear, and lateral tibiofibular chondromalacia. (R. pp. 349, 358, 369, 678) While waiting for authorization of treatment, Houston’s knee started to make noises – cracking and popping – when he walked, and he developed a limp from right knee pain. (R. p. 369) On June 13, 2014, Dr. Math opined that it is more likely than not that the increased activity and walking that Houston engaged in pursuant to his medical providers’ advice following his back surgery aggravated his right knee pain causing the need for additional evaluation and treatment of his right knee. (R. p. 388)

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